- BOX:
497

FOLDER:
4534

- DESCRIPTION:

Barnnett, Richard

DATE:
10/18/92
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THE PEOPLE, COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS, PART II.
vs. |

. BEFORE JUDGE MARTINE.

RICHARD BENNETT.

Monday , January 9, 1893.

Indictment for RECEIVING STOLEN GOODS.

A Jury was empannelled and sworn.

MATTHEW TAAFE, sw&rn,and examined:
Weeks:
What is your buéiness? A. ;iquor businesse.
Whereabouts? A. I have been at 635 West 46th
street, but since the robbery, I so0ld out; I have sold out
a few weeks ago.
On the 8th of October you were living at 635 West 46th
streef? A. 637, next door.
Were you rooms broken into, on the night of the 8th of
October? A. The ligquor store Waéo
How were they broken into? A. There was a hall
door; they used an augur, or bit and brace, I couldn't say
which; there were three holes, I think it was a bit and
brace they used. There was a cross-bar, from the hall-
door, they pried upe.
The hall door, leading Ffrom the saloon into the hall?

A. Yées, siro.
Was any property taken? ) A. Yes, sir.
What property was taken? ' A. A guantity of
wines, whiskies, cigars, kegs 6f beer and jewelry.
What Jjewelry was taken? A. There was my wife's wedding
ring,_a small'ladieszgold watCh, and a pair of ear—rings.

Have you since rénové%ga-any of the property?.- ST -

A. Only what the of£ .er;to1d me. about the wedding fﬁng




that is pawnede.

Did you see it? A, Yes, sire.

You went to the pawn-shop? ' A. Yes, sir.

What pawn-shop was it? A. I think it is in Seventh
avenue.

Officer Morris took you there? A. Yes, sire.

You identified the ring? A. He has got the ring.
Court:
Did you identify the ring? A. Yes, sir.
You are sure that is'the ring you lost?

A. 1 am almost positive I could swear to it; the
tials were not on it, I could pick it out of half a
I was in the pawnrshoé —————

Weeks:

As soon as you saw it , in the pawn-shop, you picked it out?
A, Yes, siwx.
Court:
You told us you saw a ring. Was it, or was it not, the
ring you lost? ‘A. I couldn't positively swear to
it, there is so many rings made alikee.
Weeks:
It was a ring exactly similar, was
A. Yes, sir; similar.
Court:
The ring that you had, daid it havg initials on it?
A. No, sire

And the ring that you found had none? A. No, sir.

Thé rihg you saw in the pawn-shop --- what did you mean, a

minute ago, when you said there was no initials on it? Were

there? i : ’ ‘Ae No, sir;
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- CROSS EXAMINATION by Counsel:
What dé I understand was lost —- was it one wedding ring?%

A. Yes, siro.

And your wife's watch? A. Yes, sire.
Was that a gold watch? — A. Yes, sir.
What was the value of it? A. I couldn't tell

you exactly, she had it from the old cbuntry with her.

A chain attached to it? A. Noo.
Just a plain watch? A. Just a plain watchs

What else beside the wedding ring and the wateh was stolen

from your place? ) A, A pair of ear-rings.
Gold ear-rings? A. They were diamond ear-ringse.
What were they worth? A, They might be wortlx probably

from thirty-five to fifty dollars.
What else was lost, or was taken, besides the wedding ring,
vour wife's watech and the diamond ear-rings?
A. There was a ten dollar silver watch taken.
Bedides that, wheti was taken? A+ There was two

kegs of beer recovered.

What was taken? A. There was taken a quantity of

beear, kegs of beer.

Two kegs of beer? A. Yes, sir;there was two recover-
ede.
Do you know how many was taken? A., I couldnlit rositively

tell you.

What else, besides the beer? A. There was two
demijohns of winee.

How many gallons in each demijohn? A. Two gallonse.
What else, beside that, was taken?® . A. There was

someﬁheres about a half dozen of bottles of Scoteh and

‘Irish whiskey, imported.
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What else, any cigars? A. About five hundred, in
boxes. I couldn't tell how many kegs of beer was taken,
What time was it, in the daytime or night time, this bur-

glary took place? A. Sometime during the morning

hours, before I opened.

On wvhat day? A On Saturday, the 8th of October.
Where did you keep the beer? A, In the ice-box,
down stairse. |
{ Where did you keep the rings and the watches?

A. In one of the drawers behind the bar.
All in the saloon? A. Yes, sir.
There is another young man arwrested in connection with this
affair, is there not ~-- McDonald? A. Yes, sir.
Was anybody e;se arrested in connection with it?

A, O'Brien.
Was he arrested? A. Yes, sir.
On the 8th day of October, this wedding ring was lost,
among other things -- what day was it that you first saw
this ring, you statea you went to the pawn-shop?

A. I couldn't exactly tell you the day.
How sooﬁ after? A. It was after he was com-—
mitted.
Court:
How  long after the 8th, about, not the exact date?

A It.might be the 11th, I guess.
nsel?
Is your wife living? ' A. Yes, sir.
Doesn't she wear ﬁer wedding ring? A. It is kind of
small, it is only on occasions when she has a necessity to

go out that she wears it.

How long is it sinée’your wife wore that wedding'ripg?;}ﬁdw




many years oy months before this occurrence?

A, It might be only a few days before that .
How long was it before it was stolen that you, yourself,
héndled or had it in your hands?

A. It waé a couple of'nights before the robbery.
How long before the robbery that you handled it, yourself-—--—
that you had it in your hand? A. About two nights
before that.
Was it you who bought this ring?®

A. She bought it herself.
How many years hefore that? A. About twelve years ago.
Was there anything to distinguish tha£ from any other ordi-
nary wedding ring? A. It was a very large
ring,and kind of a flat ring»in the center, not raised
very much in the center.
You have seen hundreds of the same kind; have you not?

A, I\haven't sSeen very many.
Court:
Did you see any others of the same kind?

A. I have never been in that business, I have never
beenbuying rings.
Do you recollect seeing them? A. No, sir.
wWill you swear that'that was the identical ring that was
in thét box that you saw in the pawn-shop?

A, No, sir, I wouldn't positively swear
the best of my opinion it is.
Weeks:
To the best of your knowledge and opinion

A. Yes, sir.

i




FRANK J. MORRIS, sworn and examined, testified:
Weeks:

You are an officer attached to the 22nd pPrecinect, on special

duty in that precinet? A. Yes, sir.

When did you first learn of the burglary at Mr. Taafe's?
A. On the morning of the 8th of October.
About what time? A. About half-past eight o'clock.

What did you do when you first learned it ?

A. I went down there, to investigate it.
After making your investigation, where daid you go?
A, I arrested O'Brien as the result of the investiga-
tion; I arrested a man named John O'Brien.,
After naving arrested O'Brien what 4iad you doé
A.. I came back and arrested Michéeal McDonald.
Did you know him before? A, I did.

What was his business? A. Nothing, in particular.

How o0ld was he? ' A. About eighteen.

Do you know whether or not he was single or married?

A, Single.

jAnd aft er arresting McDonald what did you do?

‘A. On information received, I went back to O'Brien's
‘house, and in the cellar recovered some cigars and two kegs
of beer, about half a dozen pottles.of whiskey, and some
chewing tobacco.

Were they.subsequently identified by Mr., Taafe as part of
the property that had been takeﬁ? A. Yes, sir.

What ‘did you do next? A. The next I.took the pris™.

iners to the Courte.
Qe That was the following morning?

A. O'Brien and McDonald.

Was Benpett there? .~ ' A. Bennett. was not

TT - 7 &




You arwaigned them>ih court, and when did &ou have another
corniversat ion with McDonald? A, In court.
And, after that conversation with MeDonald,what did you
do? A. I went back, Sunday morning, anﬁ arrested
Bennett; Sunday aft ernoon, on the 9th of Octol;er°
Where Adid you arrest Bennett? A. In a liguor store
in West 46th stréet and Eleventh avenue, North River.
Did you know Bennett? A. No, never knew him before
thato. '
When you arrested EBennett, what did you say to him@?

A. T asked him if he had this stolen property, which
cocsist ed of one.diamond ear-ring and a ring.
Did you say what stolen property? A., I did; TIa sk-
ed him if he had the ring that Mcﬁonald told me that he
had, and one diamonad ear—rihg.
Court:
You told him that? A, Yes, sir. He said, "Stoleg?
Tram:uDick Bennett, I have not got the property."

Weeks?
Well, what then? A. T placed him under arrest,

;ﬁd took him to the station house. I had a further con-
versation with him there; he denied all knowledge of it.
What was your conversation in the station house?

A. About the same as the previous conversation; I a sked
him.if he anything of the property, and he said, "No."
Did you deseceribe the.pfoperty to him, as to where it came
from, or anything of that sort? A., I did; yes, sir.
Let us go back. You found him in a saloon?® A. Yes, sir.
You went up to him;.WhatW'as the first thing you said to

him®?:* A. "Bennett, McDonald told me that you

have a diamond ear-ring; that'You»haye a diamond ear-ring.




\

.ana é goid wedding ring, which he gave you, as the pro-
ceedé_of a burglary which he committed down here." He says,
"I know of the burglary, but I haven't got the property."”
I‘sais, "Were you arocund in the morning, at that time?"
He says, "Yes, I was around there at seven o'clock." I
said, "McDonald told me that he gave you this property, he
gave it to you sayiﬁg he did not want to get Ypinched" with
it in his possession." He said, "No, he d4id not say any-
thing of the kind; he did not give me the ring ."
Have-you told all the cbnversation? A. Yes, sir.
Then you arrested hiﬁ and took him to the station house
and had another conversation with him, the same in sub-
stance? A. Yes, sir, the same in substance.
And he again said he did not have the property?

A. Yes , sir.
_That was what daye? v A. Sunday afternoon, the

9th of Octobers.
That was the afternoon of the day following the burglary?

As Following burglary.
The burglary was comnitted early in the morning of the 8th,
and then, on the 10th, you took him to Court?

A. Yes, sir.
Was McDonald in court? A, He waso.
Now, tell us what ocecurred incourt, in the presencé of
Bennett, between you and McDonald and pennett --~- try to
give 1ts the full details of the conversation in his presence
and hearing? 4 . A. I went down in the prison aftewxwr

McDonald, he was then committied for trial, and brought him

up in front of Justice Welde, and the defendant, Bennett.

,

He,-McDonald, then‘told‘Judge Welde ———-—-—




Judge Welde.

pnsel s

Was that in the: presence of this defendant, were they
arraigned before the Judge? A. Yes, sir, before
Could this defendant l= ar what McDonald said to Judge
Welde? A, Yes, sir. Judge Welde swore
MeDonald, and in hié sworn statement he said that he gave
one diamohd ear—ripg and the gold wedding ring to the de-
fendant , Bennetto

Weeks:

What did Bennstt say? A. Bennetit denied it.

What was his language? A. He said, "I daid not get

them."

Then what? A. Judge Welde remanded him,
custody, until the fsllowing morning.

What happened next? A. That night, in the prison,
the defendant admitted, to another officer ————---—

Court: |

Were you present? A. Mo, sir; he admitted ot me
aft erwardss.

Weeks:

The defendant said sare thing to anofher officer, and after
you had an interview? A. Yes, sir, immediately
after, that same night.

The night of the 10th --- what was thaf inte¥fview that yoa
had with him then? Now, tell us all the details of the
conversation? A. He says, "Go around and'see
my brother, and he will tell you where tlmt ring is." I

went around to his brother's hbuse; he denied all knowledge

‘of knowing anything about the ring, his brothe r.




Then what 4did you do? . A. After I brought his
brother around to the stat ion house, and shor@ly after
his brothe r had géne, the defendant , Bennett, then told me
that he had pledged the ring in Proker's pqwn—shop, on the
8th of October, at 35th street and Tenth avenue. The pawn-
broker told me what name it was piedged ine.
What name did he -tell yvou? A. Lyneh, I tflnk; I
really forget; I went down thereo.
What, if anything, did he say about having received
A. He said he got the ring.

Did he say what time? A. ITn the morninge.
What time in the morning? A. Around seven or
o'clock.
That he got it from MeDonald?

Court: ‘
Did he say that? A. Yes, sir.
Weeks:
Andvthat he had piedged it at this pawn-shop, on

same day, the 8th? A. Yes, sire.

Did you go down there? A. I dide.

Did you find any ring pawned that day, under the
he gave you? A. Yes, sire.
And did you subsequently take Mr. Taafe down?

A. Yes, siroe

Is that the ring that was shown to Mr. Taafe?

A. Yes, sir.

Did you have any other conversation with the defendant ,

Bennett? ) A. No, sire.




CROSS EXAMINATION:

msels

Where is that ring now? A. It is in the pawn-shope.

Why didn't you get it ? A. I have got no order to get
ite
Why didn't you get an ordér to get it, it is a very im-
portant piece of evidence? %o The complairxing
witness identified it at that time as his property, and I
thought it was sufficient evidence.
Now just repeat again:the language.used by this defendant
to you at the station house, when he told you that he had
received the ring from McDonald;what 4id he say, "I re-—
ceived the ring from MeDonald?"

A. He says,'“i will tell you where that ring is; I diad
get that ring, but not the diamond ear-ring."
That was after you had gone up to the house,and brought his
brother? ) A. Yes, sir.
Who was present, you and the brother and this defendant? at
the time you had this conversation? ' No, sire.
Wasn't it in the stat ion house?

A. Yes, sir, in the prison in the station house.
"How long after you broqght the brother with you into
station house was it that this defendant admitted to
that he had received the ring? A. It may
fifteeen minutes, and it may be more.
The.brother was there, you brought him there, you say?

A. I brought him there; 1 think he had gone hoane, I won't
swear if he had or note.
In what om-was it that you had your conversationvwith this

‘defendant , about his having received. the ring from McDonald?

- -

. Ae In thé Prisone.
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S - Qejl Was he in his cell at the time? A. Yes, sir.
Q. And when you brought his brother to the prisony did you
bring his brother up to the cell, where he was? ) : q

A. Yes, sir; I Xe¥ft the brother, he went in alone and 3

i ‘ went out. -

Qs Did you go in while the brother was there?
A. I did note. "
Qo Was not the brother standing r» ar you,at the cell door, at.

the time you had this conversation with this defendant about

getting the ring fran McDonald? A. e was not, no,
sir.
Qell Where was he? A. He was at the front door of the f

station houses. -

Qe Sure of that? A. Yes, sir; I am positive of that.

Qe Yourr saw him there afterward; a moment ago you said you

thought he went homne? A. Afterwards, yes, sSir. I

met him at the front door. After Ihad this conversation _

with the prisonex, near the celll, or at the time I had the !

conversation with him, he was at the front door. After I L
had the conversation with him, I came out of the prison. I

couldn't say whether the defendant's brother had gone hame :

or was in the st atiori house.

Qe In answer to my question, where the brother was at sthe
time you had this conversation about getting the ring from
MeDonald, you said you thought the bréther had gone home?
- A, Yes, sir.

Qe Now, you say that the brother was in foont of the station
house --— whi_ch is right,; ‘had he gone home or was he in

front of the station house? A. I couldn't say.

Qe Will you swear that he was not near you at the time you

12 had the converéa'tvion with this defendant about that rilfi'g‘?',
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A. I will, yes, sir.

Where was he? A. I don't know. He was either at
the front door, or had gone hocne.
Or was somewhere else? A Or; was somewhere else.
Now , was there not an Officer Carey connect ed with this
case? 4 A. Yes, sir.
Was he present at the time you héd the conversation with
the defendant in respect to the ring? "A. Yes, sir.
As matter of fact, isn't it true that it was Officér Carey
had the conversation with the defendant?

A. No, sir; at first he admitted to Officer carey; 1 was
not present at that timee.
You were not present at that time? A. No, sir.
Do you‘ know whether or not his brothercwas present at the
time the defendant made any admissipn to the offic‘er‘?

A. I was not there, I don't know.
After having made an admission to Officer Carey, he subse-
quently made an admission to you? A, Yes, sir.
Now, tell us exactly what he said? A. He said, "The
gold ring whiéh I got from McDonald, you will get down at |
Proker's pawn-shop." Ia sked him what name was it pawned
under:, and I didremember whether it was Lynceh or not; the
defendant himself will tell you that; I went down and got
the ringe.
Itsz that the only conversat ion that you had with this defend-
ant about how he came possessed of that ring?

A. He said he r‘eceived it from MeDonald, on the morning
of the 8th, somewhere between seven and eight o'clock. I

asked the defendant , Bennett, if he was down there at that

time, and he said yes.

———
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A. I will, yes, sir.
Where was he? A. I don't knowo He was either at
the front door, or had gone home.

Or was somewhere else? ) A. Or was somewhere else.

Now, was there not an Officer Carey conné;‘ct ed with this

case? . A. Yes, sir.
Was he present at the time you haﬁ the conversation with
the defendant in respect to the ring? "A. Yes, sir.
As matter of fact, isn't it true that it was Officér Carey
had the conversation with the defendant?

A. No, sir; at first he admitted to Officer carey; 1 was
not present at that timee.
You were not present at that time? A. Wo, sirTe.
Do you know whether or not his brothercwas present at the
time the defendant made any admissipn to the o‘fficer‘?

A. I was not there, I don't know.
Aft er having made an admission to Officer Carey, he subse-
quently made an admission to you? A. Yes , sir.
Now, tell us exactly what he said? A. He said, "The
gold ring wh:i.éh I got from MeDonald, you will get down at |
Proker's pawn-shop." Iz sked him what name was it pawned
under:, and I didremember whether it was Lynch oxr not; the
def endant himself will tell you that; I went down and got
the ringe.
I's that the only conversat ion that you had with this defend-
ant about how he came possessed of that ring?

A. He said he r'-ece ived it from McDonald, on the morning
of the 8th, somewhere between seven and eight o'clock. I

asked the defendant , Bennett, if he was down there at that

time, and he said yes.




Was that all he said about how he received it?
A. That was all, he said he received it in West 46th
street.

What was said, what was it you said about his being "pinch-

ed?" A. MeDonald said, in the presence of the

defendant , Bennett, that he handed him over the diamond ear-
ring and this gold wedding ring, saying to him as he gave
it, "Dick, keep this for me, I don't want to get Ypinched"

with it on me."

This defendant never any such statement as that?

A. No, sir.
That was a statement by MeDonald, before Judge Welde?

A. Yes, sir.
Now, Officer, w as this in the forenoon or afternoon, at
the police court? A, In the forenoon.
Quite a crowd there? A. There may have been quite a
crowd in and around the witness—-stand; there was only a
very few people there.
About what time in the morning was 1it?

A. About ten o'clock.
The wateh was going on, what they call the Police Court
wateh, before the Judge? A. Yes, sire.
You were in the line with your prisoner, in the watch?

A. No, sire.

This was an adjourned examination; nad the case been ad-

. o " © e et
e s Mot AT it 2 T T v

journed the day that MeDonald made this admission?

A. No, sir, it had not; that was the firét time I ar-
raigned the prisoners.
At the time you got into the police court, were the officers

in line, what they call the watch in the police court, the
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wateh to arraign their prisoners into line before the

Judge? A. Wo, sir, they had all got through

with their prisorm rs.

There is a railing outside of the Judge-'s desk, where the
complainants and the officer generally stand --- you know
what I mean? A. Yes, sir.

And outside of that railing the defendants generally
stand? ) A. Yes, sire.

Where was this defendant st anding, outside that railing?

A. He may have been, I don't know whether he was or note.

At the time that this MeDonald wanited to make a statement
to the Judge, was he called around inside of that railing,
in front of the Judge? A. Yes, sir, he wase.
How many prisoners _did you have that morning?

Ao Bennett was the only prisoner.
Didn't you have McDhDonald ‘thére? A. I brought
from the prison, he was there, yeso.
Did you have O0'Brien there? A. No, sire.
Only those two? A. That's all,
’At the time this statement was made to the Judge, this de-
fendant was outside the railing, and the Judge called Me
Donald inside the railing to make the stat ement to him; 1is

that true? A. Yes, sire

Will you swear that that astatement was heard by this defend-

ant, six or eight feet outside of that railing?

A. Iwill, for the simply faet that Judge Welde repeatied
the statement of McDonald to the defendant, and asked him
wheati he had to saye.

And the defendant denied it; didn't he?

A. The defendant deniamd it.

~
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Do you know what has become of McDonald now?
A. Yes, sir.
He is in prison¢? A. Yes, siyr; in the Elmira

Reformatory.

Weeks:

You say the defendant deni=d it; what was the language of

the defendant's denial? A, "I didn't receive
them, I am not suilty.

My, Wéeks: The People rest.

i
i

! THE CASE FOR THE DEFENCE.

1 I ask your Honor to advise the jury to acquit, on the

.

ground that there has been Nno identification of this prop-

erty. There is no positive evidence that it is the prop-

~:
|

erty that was stolen from that place.:

The Co ! Motion denied.

Counsél: Note an exception.

The CQurt: There is further evidenee on the question of identi-

fication, the evidence that the officer went there, and he

said he found that ring, which was the ring this defendant

described as being pawned under a certain name.

1: There is no quest ion, but this defendant admits, that

-

he pawned a ring. The complainant does not know that it

Couns

Bt 1}

was the wife's ring.

ANN BENNETT, sworn and examined:

Bennett, you are the mothexr of defendant ?
A. Yes, sir.

do you live, Mrs. Bennett?

No. 550 West 48th street.
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How o0lda is your son, here? A. Going on twenty-

one.,
Twenty-one years of age?' A. Yes, sir.
Has he ever been arrested before this time?

A. Wo, sir.
He lives at home,Awith you? A. Yes, sir.
Do you know where he has been employed for the last four
years? A. Yes, sir; Mr. Martin, a tin-roofer,
in Brooklyn. He is serving his time to him, he has workeqd
for the last four year;s.
And was working up to the very time of his arrest?

A. Yes, sir.
He brought you home his wages every Saturday night?

A. Yes, sir. i
You say he has never been arrested?

A._No, sir; never.
He has worked steadily? A. Yes, sir.

How long has he been working? A. Pour years.

In the one place? ’ A. Yes, sir.

RICHARD BENNETT, THE DEFENDANT, sworn, and examined on

his own behalf, testified:
How.long have you been in the Tombs? A. Three months.
Whére have you been working for the last foﬁr yvears?

‘A.'For William Martin, No; §5 Schmerhorn street, Brook-
lyn, as a slate roofer..
You woﬁkéd st eady for.him, how long? A. Four years.

Were you working up to the day of" your armrest?

was not working on that Saturday.

" S ——
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But you were at work the day before?
A, Yes, sir, right ub to the day I was arrested.
Have you ever been arreéted for anything?

A, No, sir.

Lived home with your mother always? A. Yes, sir.

You are charged he:-'e with having received a ring, knowing

it was stolen property at the time that you received it?
A. Wo, sir; I d4did note.

Court:

You received the ring? A. I received the ring, but

I did not know it was stolen.

Co@nsel:

i

Qo

You know McDonald? A. Yes, sir; I have known Mec
Donald for about a year.

He lives around the neighborhood? A. Yes, sir.

What is MeDonald's busiﬁess, do you know? A, I don't
know; he worked in the carpet factory of Higginse.

Did he live right near you? A. He lived across the
street.

You got acquainted with him, as boys will get acquainted
with each other? A Yes, sir.

Where was it you met at the time he had the ring in his
posééssion? A. Down on the Forty-sixth street
dock, the foof of Rorth River.

What time of day was it? A. Between seven and
eight g'clock.

In the evening? A. In the morning.

What were you doing down on the dock at that time in the

morning ~—-— eight o'clock? A. T generaily g0

down, fishing, I spend most of the time —-—-—----




When yoﬁ are not work ing? Yes, sir.
Were you fishing this movrning? A, Yes, sir.
A good many boys there fishing? A. Yes, sire.
Was he fishing -- McDonald? A. No, siwr.
He came there while you were fishing? A Yes,‘sir.
He came up and spoke to you? A. Yes, sire.
Tell us what he said? A. He came up and got
talking to me. He said, "I am #dfter finding a ring in the
clothes." He asked me to pawn it; I took the ring, and I
rpawned it; and when I came back, I was arrested; I did not
know the ring was stolen, or anything else.
He asked you to pawn it for him? A. Yes, sir.
How much d4id you get on it? A. $1.50.
Whnen you came back to find him, with the $1.50, he was
arrest ed? A. Yes, sir; he was arrested.
Were you arrested that same day, or the next day?
A. The next day.

Whevre were you when you were arfested? A. In Micheal
Neeley's saloon, 615 West 46th street.
What time of déy or night were you arrested?

A. Betwesen three and four o'clock.
In the afternoon? A, Sunday aifternoon.
Now, jus£ tell us thé circumstances; what oifficer was it
arrested you? . A Offiéer Morrise
Did he come in the saloon to make the arwest? A, No, sir.
How did the arrest take place? A.4He sent a
yvyoung man by the name of William Bergman into the saloon,
‘and I told him I d4id not have the ring; he said if I d4diad

not give him the ring they would have me aryested, William

Bergman said thate. So, I says, "You can habe me arre sted,
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I ain't got no ring." He went out and he called the of~
ficer in, and the officer came in and asked me for the
ring. I said, "I haven't got the ring." That was all was
said. '

At that time you knew MeDonald had been arrested?

A. Yes, sir.
Then did you have any other conversation with the officer
;fthere? : A. No, sir.
| vyou to the station house? A. He took me to the
housee.

How did Officer Carey bob upr in connection with the case—-—-
where Aid you see him? A. In the station housec,
was the first place I seen him.
What other conversation ---- you went to the éolice court
on Monday morning; did you? A. Monday morning, yes.
Who went with you to the poiice court?

A. Officer Morris.
Was Officer Carey along? A. Mo, sir; he was note.
You ﬁere arraigned before Judge Welde? A. Yes, sir,‘
MecDonald was sent for and brought there, in your presence?

A. Yes, sir.
Did you have any conversation with MeDonald there?

A. No, sir, I 4id noto.
Now, you were placed, weren't you, outéide of that ﬁron
railing? A. Yes, sir.
About ten or twelve feet from the Judge ? A. Yes, sir.
How far is this railing from where the Judge sits —- about?

A. It is eight or nine feet.

Did you notice that the Judge had this conversation with

MeDonald and the detective that the officer describe&?

A. No, sin; I did note.
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Do you know whether the Jgdge was talking to MeDonald or

not ? A. Yes, sir; he was talking to McDonald.
Where was McDonald standing at the time the Judge was ralk-

-ing? A. Inside the railing.

You were outside? A. Yes, sire.

e At ot m AL 2§ Ko b e 1

Where was McDonald, back near the iron railing?

A. He was by the Judge's deske.
Could yoﬁ hear what the Judge said to MeDonald?

A. No, sir.
Did you hezr what MeDonald said to the Judge?

A. Yes, sire. McDonald said he gave me the ring, and that
I did not know it was stolen --- he daid not give it t o mse
with any bad intentions.
Did the Judge ask you what you had to say? A. Yes, sire.
What did you say? A. T said I took the rving and
pawned it. T did not know it was stolen.
You entered a plea of not guilty there? A. Yes, sire.
You said that at the time --— that you did not know it was

stolen? A. Yes, sire.

Did the Judge say to you that you were dharged with receiv-
ing stolen goods, is that what he said? - A. No, sir.
Were you asked by the Judge what you had to say?

A. Yes, sir, I was asked what I had to saye. Isaiada I
didn't know the ring was stolen, I had the ring, I didn't
know it was stélen.

Afterwards, where was it that you confessed that you had
received the ring from this man --- you first denied it,

to Officer Morris, didn't you? A. Yes, sir.

Was it in the station housé that you confessed that you had
received the ring from McDonald ? A. Yes,-sir, in the

station housee.




In the cell? A, Yes, sir, in the cell.

Did you make any confession of the same kind, to Officer
Carey, when your brother was present? A. I tolada

Officexy Carey, when my brother was prresent, right at the

cell door --— I told him what pawn-shop the ring was in,
where the ring was, and the name.
You told this to Officer Carey? A. To Officey Carey.
This was after he had sent for your brqther?

A. Yes, sir; after he had sent for my brother.
Did MeDonald ever say to you, at any time, as matter of
fact, "take this ring and keep it, in case I should get
rinched?" A. No, sir, he did note.
He simply came down to the doeck, where you were fishing,

and asked you to pawnit foxr him? A. Yes, siro.

Trag

CROSS EXAMINATION:

v
4
3
#;
t

Weeks:

RO

Now, Bennett, the first time you ever admitted having pawn-
ed that ring was to Officer Carey, in the station hoﬁse;
wasn't it? A, Yes, sire.
You are sure of that —--- positive? . A. Yes, sir.
Then when you testified a moment ago that you told the
Judge, in the Police Court, "I took the ring, I daidn't know
it was stolen," that was not true; was it? You didn't say
in the police court that yéu took.the ring?

A. Yes, sir, I said I took the ring..
Did you, in the police court? A. Yes,
it in the police court.
Well, then,a moment ago when you told ﬁe that the first time
you admitited having taken the ring was in the stat ion house,

to Officer Carey, that was not true? Which one of the

statements is true? s A. I told Officer garey.

3
L4
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where to go and get the ring; I was brought up to. the

station house the next morning, and the ring was not there,

and I was remanded again until they went to the prawn-shoep

to get the ring. ~

When did you firstadmit_having receiyed the ring, from Mec
Dbonald, who was the first person? A. The first
person I ever told was Officer Carey, in the station houseo.
Then you didn't tellthe Juage, in the police court, when

MeDonald accused youw of it, you did not tell the Judge then

that you received it from him? A. No, sir, 1 gia
note.

Then when you testified that you did, you testified un-—
truly? A. Yes, sir.

This was seven or eight o'ciock, in the morning of the8th
of October, that you received this ring from MeDonald?

A. Yes, sir.

The very day that the burglary occurr»ed?

A. Not the very day, it was the day after.
The burglary occurred early that morning, didn't

A. T don't know what time it oceurwzed at all.
You received it about seven or eight o'clock in the morn-
ing? ‘ A. Yes, sir..
Whae was with McDonald when he gawe it to you? A. Nobody.
Was anybody with you when he gave it to you?

A. No, sir; I was sitting on the string-piece, fishinge.

anybody neay you? A, There was people five or

six feet away from me, sitting theres

McPonald came up to you? A. Yes, sir.
Did you get up? . A. No, sir.
Kept right on fishing? A. Yes, sir; I was sitting

downe.




MecDonald gave you the ring? A. He handed me the
ring, and he told me he found it in the clothes) he asked
me to go and pawn it. I says, "Where did &ou get iton
Were you working at that time? A. No, sir.
I though wyou worked straighﬁ along up to the time you were
arrested? A. I was not working on the gaturday. I
worked all the week except Saturday.
Was it Saturday that MeDonald br cught wvou that ring?
A. Yes, sir; Saturdaye. ’
Iow many days before you were arrested?
A. I was arrested on the following Sunday.
You stopped your fishing; did you? ' A, I still
kept the line in my hand.
And went right down to pawn this ring? A. I looked =a
the ring; I a sked if that was all right, when he said he
found it in the clothes? He said, "Yes." I went and pawn-—
ed the ring, and when I came back he was arrested; I dian't
know it was stoleno.
Where did youa pawn the ring? Between 35th and
36th streets, on Seﬁenth avenue .
You got the ring on the dock, at the foot of 46th street?
Ao Yes, sir.
Have you never pawned anything before? A. No, sir.

That was the first time you ever went into a pawn-shop?

A, Yes, sir.

How did you come to go down to Proker's pawn-shop?

A. He gave me the name and address, to go there -- Me

Donald did.

You didn't tell us that before? A. No, sir.

He gave you the name and address, and tbld you to-go to




Seventh avenue -- betwegn.where? A. I went to

-~

Seventh avenue, between 35th and 36tk streets.

How d4id you go there? A. I went right up Eleventh

aveniee.

To what street? A, To Tenth avenue, and went down

Tenth avenue and up 40th street, to Seventh avenue.
You went right over to Seventh avemie? A. Yes, sir.

Didn't you see ary pawn-shopr on your way? A, No, sir.
Did you see any péwn—shops on Eighth avenue?

A. No, sir, I did not.

You went down to 35th street and Seventh avenue?

A7 Yes, sir.

How much did youget "on it? A. $1.50
Did MeDonald tell you anythirzg. else when he gave you the

ring -~ he asked you to rawvn it, and told you where to so?

A. Yes, siz.
Did he tell you anything else about rawning it?
A. No, sir; he did not tell me anything else.

Not another word? A, No, sir.

Did he tell you how much to get on it?

A. He told me $1.50.

Anything else, are you positive —-— sure? A. Yes, sir.

Whét name diad yoﬁ pawn it in? A. Lynche

Was that your name? A. No, sir.

Was that MeDonzald's name?® A. No, sir.
Was there anybody around , at the time you got the ring,

of the name of Lynch? A. No, siwr.

Why did you selecect the name of Lynch?

A. MeDonald gave me the name

And he told you to pawn it, in the name of Lynch; did he?




Was that before or after you.asked whether it was right?
A, Tt was afterwards.
After you asked him whether it was right? A. Yes, sir.

You asked him whether it was right, and he said, "Yes, it's

all righte" : A. Yes, sir.

And then he told you where to go? A, Yes, sire.

And then he téla you to pawn it in the name of Lynch?
YA. Yes, sire
Did you say anything to him when he said that to you?
A. No, sir.
Did you tell him that was not your name?
A. I told him that was not my name.
And what did he say to that? A. He said,
ain't your name, that is th? name I am giving you;
wrote it on a pice of papers.
Did you tell MeDonald it was not his name?
A. No, sir; I d4id note.
Did yoa ask McDhonald why he did not go and pawn it himself?
A, Well, he said
Did you ask him? A. Yes, sir, I asked him why
he didn't go and pawn it himself. He said, "My foot feels
éore this morning, I don't feel like walking, ol aceount of
my being a cripple." That is the reason 1 done the favor.
Didn't you suggest to him there were a good many pawn-shops
nearer than 35th street and geventh avenue?
A. No, sir.
You knew it? A. Yes, sir.
What is the nearest pawn-shop to Where you live, that you
know of’? A. Tenth averme, between 47th and 48th

streetse.
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There is = other one on Tenth averme, there is one just a

'few blocks further down; is there not?

A. T don't knowe.
Whkat is the next one that you know of?

A. T don't know if thre is any pawn-shops; I am not

accustomed to go in rawn-shops.
I asked you if you knew of any other? A. No, sir.
Why didn't you 80 to that one in 47th street and Tenth

avenue? A. I went where he told me.

You were doing it because he had a sore foot?
A. Yes, sir; the man was a cripple, Idone him a favor.

What time did you get back? Ae. I got back about

nine o'clock,

Where daid you g0 to? A. I went down 48th street

to the foot of the river.

When did you find out that McDonald had been arrested?

A. I found out he was arrested about half an hour aft er

I came downoe

Who told you? A. Parties around the dock told me

he was arrested for Burglary.
Did they tell yvou where the burglary w as commitited?
A. Yes, sir, they told me aft erwards where the burglary

was committed; Mr. Taafe's store,

And did you then think there was anything peculiar in his

wanting you to go away down to 35th street to pawn that

ring? A. Yes, sir; I said if I knowed anything

about the burglaru,I wouldn't have taken the ring and pawn-—

ed it at all.
As soon as you heard he was arrested,you made up your mind

that that ring was part of the burglary? A. No, sir.




e T s

Qe You had an idea that it was?

BT TR

Objected to.

Qe Did you think it was®? A. No, sir.

You did not think it was then? A. No, sir.

What did you do after you heard that he had been arrested?

A. I went up to the house and took my dinner, and came :

- e,

back again and hookna walk around the arerme; I went hane i

and then I went back fishinge.
Qe ! What did you do with the pawn-tickef?
A. I threw it away.

You threw it away? ' A. Yes, sira.

What for? A. I didn't want the pawn-ticket to be

found on me at all.

Q. When did you throw it away? . A. After I heard that :
; i

E MeDonald was arrestedQ

By thée Ccourt:

‘Q.; How scon after? A. That was & out an hour or

two after.

Weeks: - . ;

You say that you did not think that thatring had anything

! to do with the burglary, what did you throw the pawn-ticket

. away for? A. I did.not‘wantAthe rawnticket to be

found on me.

Why nbt? A. Because he gave me the ring to pawn,

| I didn*'t know whwther the ring was stolen or not; That's

the reason I didn't want the tickeéyto be found on me.

{
Q.i{i When you were arrested, you said you didn't know anything

" , about the ring; is that so? A, Yes, sir.

Qo You aida? A. Yes, sir; Isaid I daidn't know any-

. - E thing about it.

28




You knew that MeDonald had given you the ring?

A. Yes, sir.

o

When did you tellyour brotie r about it?

A. I didn't tell my brother anything about ita.

Your brother didn't know anything about it, until he came

to the sta tion house? - A. No, sir, he did not.
Why aia you tell Officer Morwis to go to your brother to
find out about it? A. Itold Officer Ccarey to go
and see my brother and tell him to come up here, that my
intention was to let him get the ring and bring it to me
the next morning, and I would return it; I was going to
tell him to go and get it and have it returned to me o
Didn't you tell Officer Morwis if he would go to your
brother he would find out where the ring was?

A. No, sir; I told Officer carey, I didn't tell him

where the ring was or anything else-w

Did your brother know anything about it , when he came to
the station house? . A. No, he did not know wiiat I was
arn-eéted for.
Ané& then, for the 'first time, you spoke to vour brother;
that right? ' A. Yes, sir.
Then, before you had seen your brother, you made up your
mind to tell about the rihg; is that so?

A. No, sir; I told Officer Morris to.go down and see
my brother, and he said, "All right."
Why did you send I or your brother? A, Isent down for my
brother, because Iwanted to tell him about the ring, to 80

and get the ring , and where to go and get the ring, so as he

would bring it t'o me the next mornib.g, and I would return

it to Officer Mdrris.
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You didn't have the pawn-ticket?
How could your brotke r get the ring?
A, I don't know, sir;.
His name was not Lynch, was it? A ﬁo, sir.

How could your brother get the ring if he did not have the

pawn-ticket? . A. Oh, he could go down and ask him

about the ring -- that's all.
Did you ask your brother to go down and get your ring?

A. Mo, sir, I didn't ask him to go down and get the ring.
‘AWhy didn't you tell them about the ring before, when you
were first asrested? Officer Morris took you from the sal-
oon over to the station house, why didn't you tell him then
-that you took the ring,and that you did not know there was

anything wrong about it, and that he could find the .ring
down at Proker's? A. I didn't want to tell him

I had anything to do with the ring, because they wanted to
fetech me into the burglary.

If you didn't know anything about it, why didn't yvou tell
him right away? A. T told him all I knew a‘bout it .
Court:
At the time of the arrest you did not tell h:im\anything

about it? A. No, I 4daid not.

Weeks:

You did hear MeDonald say to the Judge that he had given

you the ring; didn't you? A. Yes, sir, McDonald

told the Judge he gave me the ring;.

Then didn't the Judge turn to you and ask you what yvyoa had
to say é_bout it, and then didn't you deny that he had given
you the ring? A. Yes, sir.

You told the Judge, then, that he didn't give you the ring;




is that right? A. Yes, sir.
Although you, a 1little while ago, said you told the Judge
‘that you did take the ring but did not know it was stolen?

A. That was the second time of the examination.

When McDonald told the Judge -- which is true -- I want to

get it positively?-A When MeDonald told the Judge I had the

ring, I told him Ididn't have the ring, I denied having the
ringe. I did.not say I had seen the ring.
Didn't you say you didn't know anything about it?

A. I denied having the ring, I said I did not nave the
ring.
Court:
Was that the first time Before the Judge?®?

A. Yes, sir, the first time before the Judge o

msel:

After you denins d having the ring, at the Ffirst examina—

tion, you went back to the station house, and confessed to
Officer Carey that you did have it? A. Yes, siro.
And then, when you were brought back, at the second examin-
ation in the police court, you admitted to the Judge you
had the ring, but denied that you knew it was stolen¥prop-
erty? ’ A. Yes, sir. .

Then there was no discrepancy, youwere not making a false
statement in the police court and a different st atement

to the officer, if you éonfessed to the officer upon your
second examination and confessed the same thing to the

Judge? : A. No, sire.

Weeks:

Did you sam‘thatlyoubhad never been arrested before, for

anything? A. Yes, sir.




theI:'
How old are you? A. Going on twenty-one years old.

Court:’

Rell me what you told the Judge when you heard McDonald say

that he had given you the ring;, what d4diga you tell Judge
Welde -- that you had never received it, and did not know
anything about it? A, The Judge asked me, did I
know the ring was stolen, and I said, YNo, sir."

You say that you heard MeDonald saysomething on the first
occasion, and you said that you d4id not have the ring®?

: A. Yes, sir. !

Q,; What did you tell the Judge thatfor? Iwas expect-
' ing to get the ring that night, and give i Officer Mor-
ris.

is the reason you denied it?

t

|

|

|
quror:

i

.é Had you any suspicion that everything was not all right when
this man gave you the ring, had you had suspicion that he
had stolen it at all? A. No, sir.

Why did you ask if it was all right, if you had no sus-—

D e L o oo v

picion? A. I asked him if the ring was stolen

Was his general character bad before that, did you know him?
A. No, sir, I didn't know that he stole anything.

And yet you asked him that question? A, Yos, sir.

e s

msel:

I understood you to say tHat one reason why you went to
the ring was, McDonald was a cripple himself? A. Yes,
Did he walk with a cerutch? " A. No, sir; he does not.
He is very lame? A, Yes,sir; very lame.

You intended to hand him this money when you came back,
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‘7 gp O%J(? .Street, aged............
being duly sworn, deposes and says,
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occupation

that on the
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CITY AND COUNTY}SS, POLICE COURT, ~..DISTRICT.

OF NEW YORK
W /* //%‘7%0
Wt ALCmeee years,

0

e

/NZ{/AV‘ '/

N\---being duly gwormn, deposes and says
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District Police Court.

W—\b ing duly examined beforgl the under-
it is h “Fright to

on the annexed charge, and being formed that )
h -; that the statement is d8 d to

n the fadts alleged against h
h waiver cannot be

Sec. 198—20 S

signed according to law,

make a statgfment in relation to the charge against
U - . -
enable h if  he’ sees fit, to answer the charge and expiai

that he is @t liberty to waive making a statement, and that
against h on the trial.

s Question. . Wha

A NSOV e LTI

Give»any»-explanationu-you-»may..think.,proper of the .circumstances appearing in the testimony.

~———-Q2testion.
against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your exculpation.

e Answer.__.

':'3:17 #oT40/0q uayy [ ‘
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7

IPENTVIIHOD THE No

“09e, us!ﬂnm........

It-apj;eari‘ng to me by the within deposz'tioﬁs and statements that the crime therein mentioned has been
. &

commitied, and that there is syfficient se to bghieve the within named..

. gz&iztg/ thereqf, I order that e be Zeld to answer the same and he be admitted to bail in e sum of

///-.// Hundred Z)oZZars, ﬂ;zd be commitied to the Warden and Keeper of

pew York, until he give swuch bail.

. /D/ %/ = ;//'/ 7ce Jiustice.

SO I have admitted the above-named,

20 bail to answer by the undertaking hereto annezed.

Police Justice.

Dated i 188

¥
N -

A leé?e bezng 7o sufficient cause to believe the within named.

guilty of the bfence wzﬁwn mentioned, I order _71, 20 be discharged:

Police Justice.

Dated. : 188




Tourt of @Geneval Sessions of the LDeare

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TEE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF N=ew Yonrk

against

Gfrand“"‘liury* ux’—tu“e—e-u,y W '1_,01 nty of New York by this 1nd1ctment a.ccuse

e
<
of the CRIME oF CEIVING STOLEV GO DS, committed as follows
The said

late of the Gity of New York, in the County of New York a,foresa,id,:oﬁ the <« M
- in the year of our TLord one "thousand sz hundred and.

day of
ninety- Ao » at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

of the goods, chattels and persona,l property of one M/ g %

by certain \4—%\/ ~ persons to the Grand Ju ‘ a.fgresaad"unkno;{ihen lately

before felonlously stolen, tiken a,nc'l ea,rrled awa,y from the said .

© AT AL AL i € A

e A»JJ_ P I S,

chd ,felonxously 1ecelve a,nd have ; the said

.2

then and there well know1ng the said goods, chattels and personal property to have been felon-
iously stolen, taken and carried away; against the form of the statute in such case made and
provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

Distriet Attorney.

- unla;.v?v Ly and- »unjﬁs;
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Police Court

Wity J and thmtgl
of FWew Hork, | °F°

of No.....J.. .. )ém% A/ ' Street, aged 4G Years,
’-occupa,tzou : %@W/J/{// . 7 being duly swormn,

6.4

deposes and says, tkat on the

day of%?-u_&ﬁ/ ________________ 189/, at the City of

New. Yorl, ir the County of New Y orle, was feloniowsly taker, stolen, and carried awaiy

o ’]f‘zfo_ni the possession of deponent, in the__Q(_%..._.time, the following property, viz .

AT 2 /ﬂﬂm&’/@%@/ Seereeyt ot T, Dtridice GmtsT

and that this deponent

77a,s a probable cause to suspect, and does suspect, that the said property was feloni-
ousZJ talcen stolen a,nd carried away by. zzzé. /M‘%% %/ —M(%?‘%G
2Tt i e oot P £ 25 T A S
/gmﬁ/ A e M/WJ/VV/— @rvol J/a/ WWW T e
/1// Fe. ,@/ma//\/wﬁ ,, Grra Pl et Lo r,mwaa Wm)

~/4M g,’;MéW«/

(%/WW) %@d/e/ 7%%@ / . Ao B
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ORIGINAL

(1885)

Sec. 198 —200. - R Q/ Distgict Police Court.
CITY AND COUNTY
OF YOR

3

being duly examined before the under-
signed according to law, on the annexed charge, and being informed that it is h right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h ; that the statement is designed to
enable h if he see fit to .answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h

that he Js at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h waiver cannot be uled
against h on the trial.

_Question. What is yqur name ?
_Answer.
| .. Question.

Answer.

____Question,

Answer.

Question. _Where do_you live and_how long have you resided there? .

snouser. S G —E o8 I

Question. 'What is your business or profession?

Answer.

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearingin the testimony
against you,; and state ‘any facts which yoii think will tend to your exculpatiea ? 7 T

)

pnp o0

0}
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned has been

comnitted, and that there is sufficient cause to believe the within namecd

X?‘der that he be held to answer 1he same, and nhe be admitted 1o bail in the swm of
2 - Hundred Dollars,

I have have admitted the above-named

to bail to answer by th

There being no sufficient cawse to believe the within named

Suilty of the offense withir mentioned, I order R to be diséharge\z‘l.
A\

Dated 189 .. Police Justice.
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Police Court 7Disti‘iot.

SBec. 151.

CITY AND COUNTY ss 2 the name of the FPeople of tlze /S’tate of New York; To the Sheriff of the County
OF NEW YORK, © of New XYork, or any Marshal or Policeman of the 4 New XYork :

Whereas, Complaint in writing, and upgsoa T ndersigned, one of the Police
/é&%

Justices i}t%%{k ey
~of No. %”‘1 I% Stre %t on the / day of. K&&vj///&w

lsg/a‘%lty of New York, in the County of New York, the following article to wit :
e

> el

f the value_of ... - W o o )
the property of : W e e

tawms th}al@plam%cype%t and does suspect and

may be apprehended and bound to

believe, by
'W'herefore, the said Complainant has prayed that the saxd Defendant
answer the said complaint. . .
These are Therefo in the name of the PEOPLE of the Srate of .New V¥ rk, to command you the said ©
Sheriff, Marshals a. tcemen, and every of you, {to apprehend the bod of- the said Deéfendant
‘DISTRICT POLICE COURT, in the said City, or in

and forthwith bring _#£##% hefore me, at the,
to answer the

case of my absence or mabllny to act, before the nearest or mcst accessible Pohce Justice in this City,

said charge, and to be dealt w1th accordmg to law.

Dated at the City of New York, this..

POLICE JUSTICE,
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Police Court

THE PEOPLE, &c.,
ON THE COOMPLAINT OF

q

UrAs

Q
0
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14 £y oy yo THITLA P NTATV M
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Dated
IR

The Defendant
taken, and brought before the Magistrate, to answer
the within charge, pupfu:lnt to ‘the command con-

tained in this Warrant

<
N
o
=
<
]
Lt
o~z
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ot
=
=
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<
lexd
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Officer.

.Daf({{/ 188

This Warrant may be executed on Sunday or at

night.

o3 09 TOTJBUITeXD 101 1)913![{111!()5) 81 ‘i}[l‘l?.l.lﬁA\ 8 Japun s 9.[0}9(‘[ 1[[3[10.[(1 [199(1

powren U!l’[@!‘\\ T,

PUSNL 90'?,20 d

Police Justice.




NFW YORK COURT o GI:TL;IERAL SESSIONS

L

Cavlvor. H.Bett s,

' 3
S

Couanty ol' New York.s

Daviad REilsu heins dualy swo vn ga- : T e 1s thie e op-

Plasinant ir thie abowve case; Liat ca2se was before tlhie

Grand Jary for t.e September term of this Court and wans dis-~

missed by the Grand Jury; that important witncesses were not

slunumoned or cs 2 i e tire Orand Jury, to wit: Peter

Engl e,#21 New Rowery.N.Y., Hen»y Bindrim

wno were witnesses who know about tie transaction ir: gues-—-

tion; deponent furthier “Vs Titat tihie said Betts is = well

known swindley, =and as in this ¢ lass of Cab s orh similar

transae tions mayv be inquired into ; delonent names

lowing names as witnesses whom hie has swindled
=

mamer zs deponent, Lo wit: Heli.Hood,#28 Waost

Brooklyn, Mr. Huston,

Browvn Bros.,Brocklyn,Josiiua Liea,

Brooklyn, and muazny others eponent could nane.

Wherelore deponsnt asks that the eas P agaln submitted

to the Grand ingquest in the interest of Justic e,

” ﬂ
Swon t Lef ore ne tiiig - .
T o e . ﬁ/Q/W/////W
i%’tq‘ady of October,  1aao.

2L S e
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COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

e e e et  —— o — ——— e e e 3T

THE PEOPLRE
Against

Ccarleton iI. Betts.

The defendant is indicted Tor obtai nings the sum of
£500.00 from one David Eilau on August 6th 1891, by méans
of fals e representations that thc defendant had a note
for discount in the Poughkeepsie Nationzl Bank, and that
he then required the sum of $500.00 to deposit in said
bank in order that his account might show a large amount
to his ecredit so that the note might be more reédily
discounted by the bank.

The complainant, David Eilau, who is a 1a AWy ey,
cl_aims-:that on July 24th 1891, he ecashed a cheeck for
$650.00 for the defendant drawn on <he Poughkeepsie
National Bank and dated August 3rd 1891, and that having
no bank account, he subsequently gave said cdieck to one of
his clients who had a bank account, to be deposited Ffor
collection and obtained from said client the sum of $500.00

on account of such check;which sum of $500.00 he c¢laims to

have given to the defendant upon the faith of the Trepre-

sentations above referred to, which representaztions he
alleges to be Ffalse.

In the Police Court the defendan t claimed that
upon the day in question, the complainant, stating that he

-

had no bank account, asked the defendant to deposit the




(2)

the sum of $500.00 for him and to give him a check dated
August 11lth which he did and that he subsequently repaid
the money to the complainant, the first rayment being

i made by a check for- $425.00 on the Tradesmens National

Banke. The check for £425.00 was pProduced upon the Police

i Court Examination, and the endorsement of "David EilauY

thereon, the complainant then stated, was not his signature

The defendant has now rroduced tho following re-

ceipt: "

"Recelved New York August 5th 1891 of C. II. Betts,
his check No. 523 on Poughkecpsie National RBank of Pough-
| Xxespsie, N.Y. for Five hundred ($500) Dollars, dated
‘5 August 1lth 1891, payvable to my order foi money this day
| deposited by me w1th said Bettse.

(Signead) DAVID EILAUY

f which the complainant admits having signed; and the
complainant also now Practically admits that the endorsc-—
 ment on the check for $425.00 is in his hand-writing.

The defendant =zlso now produces an office boy who

endorsing the check

remembers the fact of +the complainant

for $425.00 ara some circumstances in connection with his

Procuring the samece.

After acareful examination and consideration of

the case I am satisfiead that, in view of the above re-

ceipt, no conviction could be obtained and thcrefore

H.recomnmnd the dismissal of the i

December 27‘1892.
tJict Attorney

i

1 —
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At a Cowrt of General Sesszons of the Peace, held in and for
the Cety and County of New York at the City FHall, zn

the said City of New ¥ork, on the \'——&-K_, day of

W 1 %\1_.

Bresent,

Tur HONORABLE M_M

Justice.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK,

against

S o > e e A el

The District Attorney having heretofore, to wit: on the ,M day of
m« 18%., submitted to the Grand Jury of this County, empanelled in

. . ~ - . . -
this Court for the e OGS s term, and then in session, a certain charge against

the above-named defendant for %\Q@A M PO M
e o }—n——f\(\_p._,q_ » —_—

and ‘the said Grand Jury having, after a consideration of the evidence produced before it in support
of the said charge, dismissed the same, twelve grand jurors of the said G‘rl}and Jury not concurring in

(; B -
finding an indictment against the said defendant for the charge so submitted, and-. the depositions and

statements setting forth the said char ge having been duly returned to this Court, Wlth an indorsément

signed by \§_~__QA S~ e o A Esquire, Foreman of the said Grand

Jury, to the effect that the said charge was so dismissed.
251.0 W, on reading and filing the affidavit of ~==—. —m /%,;,

whereby it appears to the satisfaction of the Court that _ . o7 . S AM;B\/M,,_,M_,.Q

. §\_ = ) e N LS T I S - N

—_—
.

that _the charge is well founded both in law and on the evidence, that justice requires th
” be found, and that there is reason to believe that if the said charge is again submitted to the Grand
Jury evidence can and will be adduced, sufficient to warrant the finding of an indictment, and that
an indictment will be found against the said defendant for the said charge, notwithstanding such

dismissal, and on motion of the District Attorney, it is

@rﬂzrzﬂ, that the said charge be, and the same is hereby directed to be again submitted

to the Grand Jury of this County.

atan indictiment- -
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The FPeople
Bilau.

~against~-

CARLTON H. B =.T

T e e e e e e e e e m s e = e A

the exam

14th, to

A

%Q.Ltjak /,5?‘257'

Dated, July 13th. 1392,

T

S.

1802,

AL

éf;vj7¢h§u~2@y,6<,
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POLICE COURT, JEFFERSON MARKET.

- X

The People on the complaint of
DAVID EILAU
against

CARLDON H. BEETS.

It is h reby stipulated and consented that the examinas

tion in the foregoing cEMRIRXIRK case be adjourned to Thursd
July 28th, 1892, at 2 o'clock, same Prlace,

- batea sJuly, 18th, 1s92.

Mﬁo—.‘,&—
Attorney for plaintis

Attorney for defendant,
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Gourt of Genernl Sessions of the %"mxw

oF THE CITY aND CouNTv-OF NEW YORK.

k]

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK | .\

AGAINST

..

/

The Grand J wry .of the City .jul@ County of New York,

by this indictment, accuse
. o P

.

 Cabtm M Bt

of the CRIME oF //W-a(,. - LARCENY ..o o Z/v:-/aj— c:(.c_ﬁ'/s_e_e/
committed as follows

The said Carle =, A LA 7~

S

late of the City of New Yorlk, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the /L/v% D%_

day of — Wa——/f_, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and
ninety- _—o——e - , at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, with intent to

deprive and defrand oo Aol E Ca. .

of the proper moneys, goods, chattels and personal prolgiifz:freinafter mentioned, and of the
use and benefit thereof, and to appropriate the same to " own use, did then and there

feloniously, fraudulently and falsely pretend and represent to ) /d‘ ‘2
&S\aﬂﬁ\d E.«/EGK.—W

That -




By color and by aid of which said false and frandulent pretenses Lnd representations, the said
— CarlaTta .zé/ /3&7&7

did then and there ielonlously and ira»udulentlv obtain from the possession of the said

0%\6(,«’:_&( &,/CW , "'VLL\‘@ @ a"() /b/\;,\c, /_/,-'Z/pvbc(_/\_o\_.&

ol Hte L Renen , o 4 a—‘()<\2f£¢

< L] )
oods, chattels and personal property of the said ﬂa,\a/\-'\d &’Zd""’ .

of the proper moneys, g

/". .
e .
with intent to deprive and defraud the said og-ﬂ_;u-\_,a( &/ZQM , T

. . <
of the same, and of the use and benefit thereot, aI_;d. to appropriate the same to "&— own use,

AWhereas, in trath and in fact, the said P botor. /. Joo b Lot
ot Afars e A oo % v Ll e
- ﬁ aw%%lc%w 7L,au -/34.,;/1/2, ~ed B

A aot =/ A2 G Anane 7C£\e (9~r:'v~.¢l, D T i
%M Ao A Aollans s Mm,# e mallA e




OL\’B R v | _,gx—d_ "(';La (}A,;d. /La.‘._k—‘ o

-

s

~

R

gua G(*I IlB],B}Iﬁ, in truth and in fact, the pretenses ‘Lnd repr ebenttutlonb so made as afore-
said by the said @ﬁ/& Lo ;L!g—\~ »>%‘ . Z% ‘ ~.\_,_ ' ’

to the said ——— DZL@,V\,A e_,-{a,u«, — was and. were

then and there in all 1e:>pects utter ly Thlse and untrue, as .- the said
ConloHter, Xf. Sotts o

at the time of making the same then and there well knew; ’

2udl 5o the Grand Hury Doresaid, o sy that he saia
—Ca ot oA, S5 BRE—

in the manner and form aforesaid and by the means aforesaid, the said proper moneys,

chattels and personal Property of the said 8< d &@M —_—
g

» against the form of the statute in such case made and pro-

goods,

then and there teloniously did swraL

vided, and against the Ppeace and dignity of the said people.

' -  DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorney.

ey T i I

Tha,

TR RS L

.|




DESCRIPTION:

Birch, Samuel

DATE:

10/14/92

M
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COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE OF THE CITY AND COUNTY

OF NEW YORK.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF N EW YORK,

against

D NN Y - N

THE GRAND JURY OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK, by this

indietment, accuseé% . {,o/é_:\,\_,c/{l_, ﬁ% e
T

afedd £

/

committed as follows:

The said ,é_qfw, e R

I

late of the City of New York, in

the County of New York aforesaid, on the

/%'Qw\taw\r/?\, day of &VM{ in the year of our Lor

d one thousand

eight hundred and ninety- A - at the City and County aforesaid,
J’







BOX:
497

FOLDER:
4534

DESCRIPTION:

Bird, Payton

DATE:
- 10/20/92

Mo
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Police Court—.

@ity and @unntg% g5
of Fetw Qnrl\

of No. ﬁ g / M . gedjé ....... Years,
occupation -LM - being duly sworn

|
deposes and says, ﬂzat on the day of. @M/\—" 1 ?t the City of New

York, in the County of New York, .

e was 'vzolentl y and jelonzou.sly ASSA U.LT_E'_D and BEA TE’N by C M_M

with the felonzous intent to take the life of deponent or to do kzm grievous bodzly hawr wmy and without
. any justification on the part of the said assailant

Wherefore this deponent _prays that the said assailant may be Mw.fm&bound to answer
Jor the above assault, etc., and be dealt with accordzng to lanw. '

Sworn to before m

of.

(..




Distriect Police Court.

Sec. 198—200.

CITY AND COUNTY
” NEWM 7 - M |
. 4 C m—— -
: u 4 being duly examined before the under-

signed accordlno‘(o law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h o right to
make a statement in relation to the charge a,cra,lnst h '\ that the statement is designed to
enable h if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against -]n\

that he is at liberty to waive making a sta,tement and that T~ waiver cannot be used

against h N on the trial.

Question,. thggﬁgzcml.mme ? &;;:%

Answer

Question.  How . old are yvou ? i
Answer. (Lc’((_, - M
|

Question. Where were yon born ?

Answer.

Question. - 'Where do you liv. e, and how long h ;e you resided there ?

Answer. 5—3 Z W M ra A< S

Question. What is your business or profession ?

Answer.. OM\/ s |

Question. Give any explanation You may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

exc%tlon ?
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the within deppsitions and statements that the crime therein mentioned has beern

It appearing to me by
t
/4

t
and e be admitted to bail in the sun of

I order that he be held to answer the same,

and arden and Keeper of

Hundred Dollars,

O'itz/“(o ;N'ew YorZ, until he give sw 3
Va 2 wmB0lice Justice.

1897
e

i~

I have admitted the above-naned

to bail to answer by the undertaking hereto annexed.

Police Justice..

189

Dated,

There being no sufficient cause to believe the wilthin named

Builty of the offernse withir

mentioned, I order h to be discharged.

Police Justice.




; FLANDR®&U & CO., .
"CARRIAGE BUILDERS,

372, 374 & 376 Brooma Street,
an ol N .
Broadway, S1st Straot and7th Avanue,
NEW YORK. -t

SUMNER R. STONH,
o8 I-’I.N]?‘S’.[‘.
NEW YORK,




oRIGINAL | |

) FLANDR®U & CO., .
CARRIAGE BUILDERS,
372, 374 & 376 Broome ‘Street,
Broadway, 51st S:r:at :’r:ﬁ‘]th'Avan.uo.

NEW YORK. ol

SUMNER R. STONE,
o8 I"_[N:l?‘ s,
A NEW YORK,




. Danigl 7. Wilsor. JSEmEes W. Loawrence.

Flandrau & Co.

LDonw Tonw ReErosrrory;

L P Zovwv REPOSITORY,
I72, I, I7C BroorE ST CTI' ade Mar k) Broapway 5775z & 74 Avz,

Carriage Builders.

[: IRM,
DIRECT ANSWER To IN ANSWER To YoURS

Broadway and 5lst Street. Kg)fe S & Wil S O n. = ~

=

New York. /0/;_ /s

DT D e /W——
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GINAL

, ORI

Court of Grneral Sessions of the Leare

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YoRE,

adainst
2%

‘ ,..) L - .
The G'I‘i-'l,ll(-l Jury of the City and County of N

of the CRIME oF ASSAULT IN THE FIRST DEGREE, committed as follows :

The said . <"/’/< )&KA glpon S (:,j_ﬁ)//)_ e

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the ..
< -

(,_,)Q Loy -lroa/ in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

, in and upon

ninety- ~Z<arp -

# s
the body of one .. . \"<O ,-./?fa”:(./p(,u., e s P :
then and there being, feloniously did ma¥e an assault and ‘A ¢.1.0n

/(.--'//,v.gr,/f} tagntades 4T

~, - g ith a certain «~2.4. A A
T 6 /1/_0(.4_/2‘-9}—"'}4:’4.4/1.é/é/ v ertain Voxn A o
\—/C?<: ;"?//l [ 4 llf?//”}(/t;fx/ c¢ 'ﬁ( J\(ﬂ CACS A A AR_MoA  0 /m/
which the said C{/)(} S (J/)f(/\/(/(/ N
- - - A - - o - B
there had and held, the same being a deadly and

Ledons
in \-/A,(_k) right han then@ljé
weapon, then and there wilfully and feloniously did strike, beat, cut, stab and

ew York, by this indictment, accuse

-Flyg /\,,l-(.f.,F_Ax,(,A

day of
» with force and arms, at the City and County aforesaid

in the peace of the said People

the said

dangerous

wound,

with intent . .A _.cin the said \-</, /{ﬂ‘d 5 / R
: - A _lto  J s ) -
/Zform of - the statute in

. P B
thereby then and there feloniously and wilfully t67 kill, against @
ainst the peace of the People of the State of New York and

such case made and provided, and ag
their dignity.

SECOND COUNT—
AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID,_ by this indictment, further accuse the said

P et

T - S CX
of the CRIME oF ASSAULT IN /TH ECOND DEGREE, committed as follows :

r |1 . 3 - e Ty .
The said e </)()L/g///:{)/n/ <"»,~A'L»(/\_/(/(./ o
<
late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: On the day
at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, in and upon the body of the said
& - » ‘ — in the peace of the said

\{O/Laccéw/-—~— Ll g L

Pe‘ol.)le then and there being, felo lously did wilfully and wrongfully make another
3 A A A /(’;OC}L_Q'( A,/LI/ e

and - .. the said
with a certain u&d—(‘( _o(./(/(__,/ \/(,,f/]/L/()_-?)i,(/l_./7A’l_A_,L/!.‘(;f \./{X " \/&7(‘}” '\."fg A cAn (/'( ) f'/‘/f,-:&/' X /{ﬂ,(/acx_x r’

AL .. - o .
e S QRuier —

which the said e AN
in MNoA o right hand then“4nd there had and held, the same being a weapon and

an instrument likely to produce grievous bodily harm, then and there feloniously did wilfully
against the form of the statute in such case

and wrongfully strike, beat, cut, stab and wound,
made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their

and in the year aforesaid,

assault,

dignity.




ORIGINA

THIRD COUNT—

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESA.ID, by this indiectment, further accuse the said

exay lond CHRct)

of the CrIME oF ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGRERE, committed as follows :

The said 2 sy Cire 7 N Bencsd
=

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: On the day and in the year aforesaid,

at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, in and upon the said \6/{.61./1/’4’/
in the peace of the said People then and there being, feloniously

d ilfully and wrongfully make  another assaulé and . the said

'\(O A lew ¢ R £ /(

with a certain ﬂ/ﬂz A ,,/'v(fﬂ/ua.l("S.M_/n/(.W.;/ - /ff, \/( AL I e ot (ﬂot/uz/ C‘}%f 280 (5 |
[¢ .

A ,k/bt/ru/l,xtf J

which \—~—’K£./ the said (j)@("j I (\/\_/‘ﬁ J/\_C/(/
%

\.%_,(;9 right hand then and there had and held, in and upon the
CON1. of N the said

- j»@/(_ﬂ’(f/

then and there feloniously did wilfully and wrongfully strike, b(e/azc,/g?éﬁ, cil uise and

wound, and did then and there and by the means aforesaid, feloniously, wilfully and wrong-

fully inflict grievous bodily harm upon the said

h case m M/L/C,-J .4--/‘«9/(/{/1,&/_‘/’/ e
against the form of the statute in such case made and“gpfro¥fdsd] and “agaidstthe peace of the

People of the State of New York and their dignity.

De LANCEY NICOLL, District .dttorney.




BOX:
497

FOLDER:
4534

DESCRIPTION:-

Blum, Isaac

DATE:

10/07/92

1




497

FOLDER:
4534

DESCRIPTION:

Seratsky, Davis

DATE:
10/07/92

Wi
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" Police Court— T)1$tr10t

ity and Connty a5 -
of Pew Pork, 7 - W %WL/
af NVo. . /é/ , .

occupation

deposes and says, that the premises No.

tn the Gty and County aforesaid the sgid being a... Ak O 22

and in which there was at the time %71 L UTTLCETE

were B U RG L ARIOQOUSILY entered Yy means offorcz'bl;z/.,. A L Cl A C A

M/pa/

day of M7t foe. 1@ 7 ~.time, and the

Jollowiglg property fohsniously takien, stolen and carri

-~




ORIGINAL

District Police Court.

Sec. 198—200

being duly examined before the under-

on the annexed charge, and being informed that it is h right to

signed according to law,
make a statement in relation to the charge against h ; that the statement is des d to
he sees fit, to answer the charge and explaimmthe facts alleged against h ;

g a statement, and that hwaiver cannot be\'sed\

enable
that he is/at liberty to waive makin

against h on the trial.

 Question. What is 3

e Question.
Anrswer.
- Questziorn.

e Arswwer.

. Question.

.. Answer.

oo Q2estzon..

a8
Sufr o ad0fag nayyy




*OOR QUALITY

District Police Court.

- v

Sec. 198—200. )

CITY AND COUNTY | .
NEW YORK, f :

A2 s C/l:( being duly examined before the under.

signed according to law, on the annexed charge /5 being informed that it is h right to
make a statement in relation to the charge ag#fins h ; that the statement is designed to

enable h if  he sees fit, to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h ;
that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h waiver cannot be used

against h on the trial.

'Y
Question. What is your name ?

Anme/@_&/,/ S )é/z/r%%

Question. How old are you ?

_‘Aﬂeﬁzgeﬁw_,_é; S %

Arnswer.

Question. Where do you live and how long have you resided there ?

~
. Answer. /7 é W W a 6 W
Question. What isour business or profession ?
o >
Answer. . cL/(/éﬁ/

Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testimony
against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your exculpation.

Question.

- Answer.

?Zmﬂ U0 (39 usyy 74
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- puapeny
20UIPNT

S
" ‘UTd0Td Ih I

A0 INIVIIKOD 4IlY, No

'8

Ve ¥

he e JchZ to answer the same, and

%C/Polwe Justice.

It appearzng to me by the within depositions and statements that the crznze therez‘n mentzoned has been

e the within named

commiitted, and that there is suﬁ‘z’czent cause to b
A—;LA/ LA /@/t'/,y.

he be heid to answer the same, and e beded

a4 to bail in the sum of




CITY AND COU’NTY}_

OF NEW YO

- * !
of No. // ﬁ g Street, aged.

ocecupation

years,

being duly sworrn, deposes and says

Frmrfods P X0 S a7 .
T~ "wry(rj JTCTU 50793




CITY AND COUNTY ss
OF NEW YORK, iy

years, occupation.../ of No.”~

aged /. 7 / / 2
_ ,/{/ MMW //7 Street, being duly smworn, deposes and

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit o —

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own

knowledge.

Sworie to before mz t;gis £2 j a j @VM /Q\ /%
of-. 7 7

ay
A

~>
7 \’/?//7/ .
T
/ /// // b Police Justice.

A
<7




" @omt of (ﬁ-meﬁat Sessions of the Pewce

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tee PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK

\O against
A x_k _a— ‘
M

| %

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

of the Crime or BURGLARY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, committed as follows :

The Saﬁ%@é_«m @én et e g /Q/ /z/f/&y(/% 17

R

late of the / g /\/?Warcl of the Cit. New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the
@O ﬁ{) day of Z%/ in the year of our Lord one

thousand eight hunched and nlnety% cin the # -time of the same day, at the
Ward, City and County aforesaid, a certzun buxldlng there mtua, , to wit, the @’C O~ of

with intent to comnffit some

there s{ii‘;;la.te’, felc.)niéusly and burglé.riously did break into and enter,
‘ in, to wit : with intent the goods, chattels and personal property of the sai %

S in the said \m;\_/(
_’\

then and there feloniously and burglariously to steal, take and carry away,

then and there being,
against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the

People of the State of New York and their dignity.




SECOND COUNT—

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment; further accuse the said
M\

%&&V @ZWV- s /@@Wﬁ/

of the CRIME OF\{Z\—MA/J LARCENY 7. % Reeo—ot Dcy/&,e,p committed as follows :
>

L - ~ 3
",

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit : on the day and in the year aforesaid,

at the Ward, City and County a.fbresa,id, in the W- time of said day, with force and arms,

WOM%/ \% /WCM 7

At et o ~ -

WMK/ ek, %%@%‘w 7(

B

s
-

of the goods, chattels and personal Property of 5 .

in the i T~ S
’ P . Y . N ) _ .
.thege situate, then and there being found, in the\m{ C .

‘a.fo_r\'esa.id_, then and there %eloniously did. B%ea.l, take and carry away, against the form of the statute

in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York

and their dignity.




oon Qmu.rrv
: on:cmm:. |

THIRD COUNT:

' ot And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indietment, further gecuse the said

of the Crime or RECEIVING STOLEN GOODS, commltted as follows

- late of the Wa,rd City and County aforesaid, afterwalds, to wit:. on the day a.nd m the year afore-
said, with foree and arms, at the Ward, City and County a,foreqa,ld

by a certain persén or persons he ‘*-drand‘Jury ‘a.fores\a—i'—%kiiowﬁ‘, then lé.tély before felon-

iously stolen from the said e - %\ Vv\/\_m

unlawfully and unjustly d1c'l feloniously receive and have; (the sald

then and there -well ,knownlg the sa,l.d goods, cha.ttels a.ngi -pexgonal property to have@-.
-iously stolen, agaanst the form of. bhé\ sta.tute 1n -such Gase ma.de and provided, and agamst the -

peace of the People of the State of New York a,nd thelr d1gn1ty
i. . i .‘ N A8
N
DE LANCEY NICOLL

’
xS

w .Dzstrwt .A ttorney.




BOX:
497

FOLDER:
4534

DESCRIPTION:

Bosso, John

DATE:
10/25/92

M
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PPolice Courxrt— District. Affidavit—Larceny.

-

@ity and County ’
of Pewo Pork, [ % A
of No // W ' Street, aged jJ- years,
( ﬂ% ez / being duwly sworm,

occupation
deposes and says, that on the. //%' day of- //;%189 2-at the City of New

Yorlk, in the County of New York, was feloniowusly taken, stolerr and carried away from the possessianaa_.(
r

time, the following property, viz:

Y el

\- 4 and that this deponent

d does spect, that t¥ id property was feloniowsly talen, stol
;//.% = z W
i ¥ e { . P .
) M .




CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK, S8.

aged..... 5

/ ................. years, occupation..

and that the facts stated therein on

knowledge.

Sworn to Z)% this

information of deponent are true of deponents’ own

LPolice Justice.




District Police Court.

K/ W being duly examined before the under-

Aigned»mccording to law, on the annexed charge, and being informed that it is he— right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h<%, ; that the statement is designed to
enable h & if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h ._,
that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h ~~, wWaiver cannot be wused
against h \ on the trial.

— Question., 'Where were you bor

__Answer.

- Question. Where do you live and héW long have you resided there ?

__ Answer. f/z‘ @V

Question. What is your busin profession ?
. Answer.

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testimon
T T T T T agalnst you; and state any facts-which you think will- tend to your exculpation ? -

DOYSTfe BOUOJ "=
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Lasuy oWg '
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.0? ¢

s
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2,/
S 77
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4
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1
3

F
It appearing to me by the withir depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned has been‘l' g
o

se to believe the within named -
.

B e I ; A

i‘sum of

commitied, and that there is sufficient c

Suiliy thereof, I order that hg be held tﬂ;swer the same, and he be admitted to bail in the

_,_1 M)"’-—‘-/é/n Hundred Dollars,._.._ and be committed to the W'a,rden{:and Keeper of
1t E T

the City Prw%ork, wuntil ke giv%/\
/ 189 *— A Police Justice.

Dated

I have admitted the above-named

to bail to answer by the wndertaking hereto annexed.

Police Justice.

Dated, 189

There being no swificient cause to believe the within named

LBuilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h to be discharged.

Police Justice.

Dated




@ourt of @enweval Jressions of the PLeace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tee PEOPLE OF THE STATE OoF NEw YORK

against

..... /g&c@ CFraa s

The Grand Juxy of the City and_County of New York, by this indietment, accuse

.

\ﬂ\""‘—-ﬁ
AND LARCENY in the L/Q/ degree, committed as follows :

The said . s Ao

—

. ; .
late of tmhe County of New York aforesaid, on the /m

day of . in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and
ninety- _€Sce ) > in the ZZ4ime of the said day, at the City aund -County ai‘o1esa1d

with force and arms,
\muﬁ/ P /‘5\? WOZV /b/

A~

- L.

then and there being f6und, from the person of the SWL W

then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry a 7 against the form of the statute in
such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York

and their digrity.




QuAL 5’;‘

K.

SECOND COUNT—

AND JURY ATFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said

ECEIVING STOLE GOODS, committed as follow\s:

TS

S
&

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year afore-
said, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

G@“—’é&,//“‘\_

2
_ g |
P \/é%Q % J% NS A
T e e

~

by a certain person or persons %o the Grand Jury afor{s;.id unknown, then Iately before
feloniously stolen, taken and carried away from the said

id feloniously recei and have ; the said
e (2

then and there(

knowing the said goods, chattels and personal property to have been
feloniously stolen, taken and ecarried away, against the form of the statute in such case made

and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorney.




BOX:
497
FOLDER:
4534

DESCRIPTION:

Branch, Bejamin

DATE:
10/17/92

1




CTTIT 3049 V

“fowsoyp s
TI00IN REONVT 2q /ﬁ

0{

.m\\\%,_,

(-epopD 1vURd ‘817 PUB ALY SUOIIOSE)
O ‘esafe@ 93SALT OY} UT 3[NESSY

%ﬁ_m

xma

‘lesTmop)

\<@13\d\ é\\

F Sassougpp




Police Oourt—q—* i i

Dlstrlcf.

ity and @nnntg% .
of et Jork, {7

occupation

“deposes anidd says, that on the...... ; ______________ day of
Yor#k, in the County of New York,

he was violently and feloniously ASSA U.L 1TED and B ;‘?2 TE.AV by M

Vi W%‘” .

being drily sworn

188N at the City of New

with the felonious intent to take the life of deponent, or to do him grievous bodily harm; and without
any justification on the part of the said assailant

Wherefore this deponent prays that the said assailant may beapprehended and bound to answer
JSor the above assault, cte., and be dealt with according to law.

Sworn to Zef'o’ me, this i / % / / /
o % 1 i a/,

: e.




|~ ORIGINAL

. .
i Z—— District Police Court.

Sece. 198—200.

C

Y AND COUNTY
NEW YORK, sS.

-
being duly examined before the wunder-

signed %ccording to law, on the annexed (%rge; and being informed that it is - 2ight to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h &that the statement il;}esigned to
see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h “~
waiver cannot be used

enable h\ if he
that e ' is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that I

against h on the trial.
- Question.. . What is yourname?. . - _ .

Answer e P 2 T O, O

. N ‘
‘Question.  Where were vou born. ?

Answer. @ - 4 s . o e ~ e

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ? ' N
ansver. 247 R R S B
Question. What is your business or profession ? -

Answer. W 7 B

appearing in the
will tend to your

Give any explanation you may thinlk proper_of the circumstances
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think

‘ exculpation ?
S 3 ) = -
: Answer. ﬂ =Zze ,zzo7 W _ m ¥

Question.
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It appearing t» me by the within Aepositions and statements that the crime therein nyzioned has been

committerd, and that fhera ZS/SW/ to believe the wbthbn M

We eof, I order that he be held to answer the same, and he be admitted to bail in the sum of
and be commité to the Warden and Keeper of

(\ /

wndred Dollars,

the City 7 of the CitVf HNew XYorl, until he give such bail, N
g 189 L — . —/b Police Justice.

o

Dated

I have admitted. the above-nanved

to bail to answer by the undertalking hereto annexed.

Dated, 189

There being no sufficient canse to believe the within named

Builty of the offense within meritioned, I order R to be discharged.

Police Justice.




Czty and Oounty
of New York,

of No.

occupaition

oﬁ“%/éw(

. Street, aged: —TTwears,

that on the

York, in the County of New York,. . oy

p SO being duly sworn, deposes and says,

18\ at the City of New

Falise .A;&‘csa
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Comrt of General Sessions of the Leace
OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEw Yo=rE,

against

Ty, ,
New York, by this indictment, accuse

@w/(}l_-z\m-y of the City and County
. = N
. A\ VZT‘LW Z‘ N
- ﬁ
T : ;

of the CRIME oF A HE FIRST DEGREE@M?:,aS follows :
The said 7 il L : —_ — ﬂC/WA
c /_\‘_)
g i )"L/W/é/

ty of New YolL, in the County of New YozL aforesaid, on the
in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

ity and County aforesaid, in and upon

late of the

day of C.c
ninety- v%c) . , with f01ce and arms, at the
- = S /4P ; .
the body of one W_ A, in the peace of the said People
nd ther be1ng, feloniously 1 make an assq 1t and ‘é/,,k the said \\—————\_
\A@ %{ /6~/*g/Wibh a certain \/%v_/\/

WW 57?7/ €

P2 T e,
' whlch the/sﬁld ‘ /
vzg%and then and there had and held, the Same belncr a cdeadly and
then ahn beat, cut, stab and

da,uoelous weapon, there wilfully and feloniously did strike,

wound, — L/ : . .

=
(’with intent e ) the said WM e W\/ é{\
‘for of” he statute in

therelﬁy then and there felonidusly and wilfully to kill, against the
such case made and p1ov1ded and af*zunst the peace of the People of the S’ca,te of New York and
their dignity.

SECOND COUNT—- . e
‘D, E GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indietment, further accuse the said

—
\\

of the Crmm or~ ABSA LT I"N/"/‘ﬁi: SECOND DEGREE, commitied as follows :
/ L/Qm_,c_// e
- \———’\\

The said
late of the City and Couﬁt;(.r‘gesaicl afterwards, to wit: On the day and in the year aforesaid,
in and upon the body of the said

t the 01ty and County afore}s?l, with force and arms,
. M/\/ \y QIL & in the peace ;f the sa.;c'l
did wilfully and wrong W te another assault,

__.HPeoAplhe“t} of  and there being,
and the said

with a certain

which thesaid (~ ’ (oo ) o
—

i i then and thérs had—and held, Vh’e sa.me "being a wnd

then and there feloniously did wilfully

<z

in
an instrument likely to produce grievous bodily harm,
beat, cut, stab and wound, against the form of the statute in such case

and wrongfully strike,
tate of New York and their

made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the




